NO. 67255-0-1 (Consolidated with No. 67659-8-1)

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION 1 OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In Re The Matter of The Estate of Randle J. Langeland SHARON DROWN,

I.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER		
II.	DECISION BELOW1		
II.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW1-2		
IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE		
	A.	A. Separation of Assets	
	В.	Disposition of Separate Property4	
		1. <u>J. Randle and Associates, Inc</u> 4	
		2. Mr. Langeland's Sailboat5	
		3. <u>Bellingham Property</u> 5	
	C.	C. Ms. Drown Changes the Beneficiary Designation on Mr. Langland's IRA	
	D.	Procedural History9	
V.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED12		
	A.	The Court Erred by Refusing To Allow Unmarried Persons in a CIR to Make Agreements (Both Written and Orally) Just as Married Persons Might	
	В.	The Decision Of The Court Of Appeals Conflicts With Prior Case Law From Division II Which Beneficiary Designation Changes on Pay On Death Accounts To Be Treated As Inter Vivos Transfers Subject To Higher Scrutiny	
VI.	CON	CONCLUSION19	

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Case Law Daly v. Pacific Savings and Loan Assn., 154 Wash 249, 251-252, 282 P. 60 Estates of Palmer, 145 Wn. App. 249, 187 P.3d 758 (2008) (Div. II)......1,12,17,18 In re Patton's Estate, 6 Wn. App 464, 494 P.2d 238 (1972), Rev. Den. 80 Wash 2d **Statutes**

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Janell Boone is the petitioner in this Court and was the Respondent in the Court of Appeals.

II. DECISION BELOW

The Court of Appeals' published opinion was filed on October, 28, 2013. Appendix, A-1 to A-18. The court denied a motion for reconsideration on December 5, 2013. Appendix, A-19.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Does the ruling of the Court of Appeals conflict with Supreme Court Precedent by failing to recognize a second means by which individuals in a Committed Intimate Relationship may maintain the separate character of property, besides tracing, to wit, by written and oral agreements acted upon that all property acquired during the relationship will remain the separate property of the individual who acquires it?
- B. Does the ruling of the Court of Appeals conflict with prior case law from a different division of the Court of Appeals, to wit *Estates* of *Palmer*, 145 Wn. App. 249, 187 P.3d 758 (2008) (Div. II), by analyzing the change of an Individual Retirement Account beneficiary designation as a testamentary gift similar to a term life insurance policy purchased with community funds rather than an inter vivos transfer similar to a pay on

death account as in *Palmer*?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Separation Of Assets

Mr. Langeland and Ms. Drown originally met in Chico, California in 1983. RP 68-69. In 1991, while still residing in Chico, Ms. Drown moved into Mr. Langeland's home, and they continued to co-habitate in a Committed Intimate Relationship ("CIR") until the time of Mr. Langeland's death on January 9, 2009. CP 274; RP 52. The existence of the CIR is not in dispute as the Estate stipulated to the existence of such a relationship months before trial. CP 274.

Beginning in 1991, and throughout the duration of their relationship, Mr. Langeland and Ms. Drown were exceedingly careful to split all expenses equally, and never comingled or pooled their separate assets. RP 216-220; Exhibit 23. In order to maintain the complete separation of their assets, they would meticulously determine each other's proportionate share of all the normal household expenses for each week of each of the 216 months that they lived together, including the requirement that Ms. Drown pay her portion of "rent." RP 216-220; RP 177-179; Exhibit 23; Exhibit 27 (interrogatory no. 23).

Throughout the 18 years of their relationship, Ms. Drown's check registers show the high degree of precision they employed to keep their

assets separated and to divide to the penny each month's expenses. Exhibit 23. Ms. Drown testified that she would make a list of all of the expenses of the household such as groceries, appliances, meals, and all other expenses. RP 216-220; Exhibit 23. Ms. Drown would then determine whether she or Mr. Langeland had initially paid for each individual such expense out of his or her separate account, and credit either herself or Mr. Langeland half of the value of the item in order to ensure that they split all cost precisely in half. Id. At the end of each month, Ms. Drown would calculate the difference between her contributions to the mutual expenses, and the credits she received for paying for items with her separate assets. Id. Ms. Drown would then subtract what she had already paid from what she owed to the community, and write a check to Mr. Langeland to cover the remainder of her share of expenses. *Id.* In addition, pursuant to a written agreement (Exhibit 30), she would pay "rent" to Mr. Langeland each and every month (see also check register Exhibit 23.) The process was very meticulous and precise, and Ms. Drown and Mr. Langeland followed this same formula each month for the duration of their relationship. *Id*.

This separation of living expenses by Mr. Langeland and Ms.

Drown went beyond a simple equal division of all bills. Mr. Langeland and Ms. Drown were also very careful to prevent any co-mingling of

assets and made it a point to never share a common bank account. RP 216-220; RP 328. Ms. Drown testified that she and Mr. Langeland maintained separate bank accounts throughout their relationship. RP 328. The only document which was in both of their names was a short term home equity line of credit used to pay off Mr. Langeland's boat loan. However, Ms. Drown testified that all of the money to repay that loan came out of Mr. Langeland's separate bank account. RP 328. Mr. Langeland did not name Ms. Drown as co-owner or pay on death beneficiary on any accounts, instead naming his mother or daughter as residual beneficiaries. RP182; Exhibit 1; Exhibit 2. Mr. Langeland did not execute a durable power of attorney naming Ms. Drown as his attorney-infact, thus preventing her from having any access to his finances. RP 243-244. And he declined to marry her.

B. Disposition Of Separate Property.

1. J. Randle and Associates, Inc.

Mr. Langeland owned a small business known as J. Randall and Associates, Inc. that he ran out of his home. Ex. 1; Ex. 3. When he was able to work full time, tax returns admitted at trial showed business income ranging from \$13,059 (2004) to \$26,275 (2006) per year. Exhibit 21. The estate inventory, which was not challenged under RCW 11.44.035, valued minor cash and receivables and valued the physical

assets and the good will at zero. No other evidence of value was introduced at trial. This business represented his source of income, which as described above, was kept meticulously separated from Ms. Drown's income. RP 216-220. The court found (FF 18) that Ms. Drown and decedent had conducted their affairs, by agreement (in writing as to the house, Exhibit 30) and by their acts, such that, the court concluded that any claim by Ms. Drown to his (decedent's) own income or assets exclusively is substantially rebutted by his careful and meticulous conduct described in Finding 18. (COL 8).

2. Mr. Langeland's Sailboat.

In 1998 Mr. Langeland purchased a sail boat in Oregon. RP 79.

Ms. Drown testified that Mr. Langeland purchased the boat using his own separate assets, and that the boat was registered in his name only. RP 245; RP 79. Notably, he named the boat "Janell" after his only child, Respondent herein. RP 245. Ms. Drown further testified that, after the couple took out a home equity line of credit to pay off the original boat loan, Mr. Langeland repaid the entire home equity line of credit using his own separate assets. RP 328.

3. <u>Bellingham Property</u>.

When the couple moved to Washington in 1999, Mr. Langeland purchased the home located at 3946 Lakemont Street in Bellingham for

\$158,500, cash. RP 177-179; Exhibit 30. The couple did not contribute equal assets to the purchase of the property. *Id.* Ms. Drown agreed to contribute \$50,000 by a promissory note payable over 15 years to acquire up to a 31.7% interest in the property. Mr. Langeland paid all cash from the sale proceeds of his house in California, which they anticipated would over time be paid down by Ms. Drown to 68.3% interest in the property. *Id.* To fulfill her obligation, Ms. Drown paid \$10,000 cash and borrowed the additional \$40,000 from Mr. Langeland. *Id.* The loan was memorialized in a promissory note requiring her to pay Mr. Langeland \$40,000 over 15 years at 7% interest with a monthly payment of \$359.54. *Id.* Exhibit 30. Three documents in Exhibit 30 evidence this contractual intent.

After borrowing the money from Mr. Langeland, Ms. Drown's monthly payments previously classified as "rent," were replaced with her monthly payments on the promissory note. RP 177-179. These payments were made by Ms. Drown out of her separate assets to pay her contractual loan obligation to Mr. Langeland, and did not result in any comingling of assets or acquisition of property rights over and above those specifically allowed by the loan contract. *Id.* Ms. Drown testified that she continued to make payments until December 2008, which was just prior to Mr. Langeland's death. At the time of trial, she had made payments totaling

\$17,565.29 in interest and \$29,144.71 in principal. RP 325; RP 316; Exhibit 33. As explained by Certified Professional Accountant Bernadette Holiday at trial, Ms. Drown's ownership interest in the home as a result of the payments made pursuant to the Note resulted in a 24.7% ownership interest for Ms. Drown and a 75.3% ownership by the estate at the time of Mr. Langeland's death. RP 316; Ex. 33.

C. Drown Changes The Beneficiary On His IRA

During the last few years of his life, Mr. Langeland's health began to deteriorate due to complex medical problems. RP 54; RP 108. Mr. Langeland suffered from multiple ailments including decreased vision which required him to use a magnifying glass to read. RP 244. According to Ms. Drown, his eyesight was so poor that she would write checks for him because he was not capable of doing so himself. RP 244.

In May of 2008 Mr. Langeland's Enloe Medical Center IRA was transferred to Fidelity by Ms. Drown and she named herself as beneficiary. RP 250-252. Ms. Drown testified that she filled out the form required to transfer the account from Enloe to Fidelity. RP 252. She further testified that she went online to set up the new Fidelity account into which the Enloe funds were transferred. *Id.* Ms. Drown testified that she entered all of the information, including her name as residual beneficiary, into the computer to set up the Fidelity account. *Id.* The

documents purporting to effect the change were full of mistakes and misspellings regarding the names of Mr. Langeland's family members.

Exhibit 31. No admissible document or testimony was admitted at trial to prove any involvement by Mr. Langeland in these changes or to prove any intent to make a gift.

However, unrebutted, expert testimony provided by David

Sterling, a handwriting expert, demonstrated that Mr. Langeland did not
even sign the critical beneficiary change documents which purported to
make Ms. Drown the beneficiary of the Fidelity account. RP 385. Mr.

Sterling stated the following:

In my professional opinion, we determined that the signatures were not the signatures of Randal Langeland. The up strokes, the down strokes, the connective strokes, specific letter formations, connected strokes between various letters inside the name Langeland, the final stroke of the small letter "d" in the last name Langeland, various comparisons of capital letters all were inconsistent in size, alignment, formation, length, with other indications that were quite specific as to quality of line, suspect documents signatures represented and displayed a significant amount of tremor, pen pooling, ink transfer to the documents that were highly identifiable and, therefore, it was reduced to a finding that it was highly probable that those indications led to the determination that we have established. RP 385 (emphasis added).

Mr. Langeland did not sign the documents making Ms. Drown the beneficiary of the Fidelity account. The purported signatures were

forgeries, leaving her purported transfers to herself invalid. The Court of Appeals failed to include this asset with the remand for tracing purposes.

D. Procedural History

This is a review of a decision by the honorable Judge Ira J. Uhrig of the Whatcom County Superior Court after a three day trial. Ms. Drown filed various claims that were dismissed before trial. During trial the Court limited her claims against the Estate with regard to the issues of (1) the status of estate assets as either jointly or individually acquired and the respective interests of the parties in said assets; (2) a determination of the Estate and Ms. Drown's interests in the property located at 3946 Lakemont Street, Bellingham, WA; (3) whether the alleged gift of the IRA from Mr. Langeland to Ms. Drown was a valid transfer; and (4) whether the estate should properly deny Ms. Drown's creditor's claim in the amount of \$500,000+.

Following trial, the Trial Court made the following Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, attached hereto as **Appendix B**, pertinent to this Petition for Review:

Findings of Fact

- 6. Decedent and Sharon Drown shared equally in all household expenses.
- 7. Decedent and Sharon Drown maintained separate bank accounts at all times.

- 8. Decedent and Sharon Drown did not comingle assets, except for 3 checks totaling \$6,650 described in Exhibit 29 which Sharon Drown deposited in decedent's account by accident.
- 9. Decedent and Sharon Drown maintained the separate character of all property except property which was intentionally purchased jointly as described in the Estate Inventory and Appraisement.
- 18. The parties received their earnings in their own name; they scrupulously deposited their own earnings into their own accounts titled in their own names; they carefully did not jointly acquire any assets of significance; they meticulously divided, to the penny, all expenses equally; and decedent did not add Sharon Drown to any of his bank accounts; and only allowed her to acquire an interest in the residence by making payments with interest as provided in Exhibit 30. Decedent did not marry Sharon Drown nor did he execute a will in her favor.

Conclusions of Law

8. Any claim that decedent intended or did jointly acquire assets with Sharon Drown that were titled in his own name through the use of his own income or assets exclusively is substantially rebutted by his careful and meticulous conduct described in Finding 18.

With regard to the IRA, the trial court made the following Findings

of Fact and Conclusions of Law relevant to this Petition for Review:

Findings of Fact

15. Ms. Drown filled out Exhibit 31 [the beneficiary transfer form] to transfer Mr. Langeland's Fidelity IRA (formerly Enloe Medical Center IRA) on 8-24-08 to a Fidelity account that she created online that named herself as beneficiary. The signatures on Exhibit 31 are deemed to be those of Mr. Langeland.

10

Conclusions of Law

5. Ms. Drown is entitled to the funds in the Fidelity IRA.

The Court of Appeals, in an 18 page published decision upheld much of the trial court rulings, but remanded the case for further proceedings. The Court of Appeals held that the trial court improperly placed the burden on Ms. Drown to prove that the assets were community assets, and that the only way to show the separate character of assets was through tracing of assets, which did not occur at the trial. Estate of Langeland, No. 67255-0-1 at pg. 13; see also Id. at pg. 15. The Court of Appeals remanded the case for further proceedings to determine the character of property as either jointly owned or separate with the burden on the Estate to show that income and assets acquired during the relationship were not jointly owned "community" assets. Id. As will be demonstrated below, such tracing is unnecessary because of the party's written agreement on the house and "oral agreement acted upon" to keep their respective income assets and expenses separate. The Trial Court listed the actions by the couple that manifested their interest. FF 18.

The Trial Court concluded that even if a presumption of community like assets existed it was "substantially rebutted by his [decedent's] careful and meticulous conduct described in Finding 18." COL 8.