RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Mar 07, 2014, 12:10 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT NO. 89810-3

(APPEAL NO. 67255-0-1; Consolidated w/ 67659-8-I)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

(Whatcom County Court Case No. 09-4-00039-9)

In Re the Estate of: RANDALL J. LANGELAND, Deceased.

SHARON DROWN

VS.

JANELL BOONE

RESPONDENT DROWN'S ANSWER TO BOONE'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Douglas R. Shepherd Bethany C. Allen Shepherd and Abbott 2011 Young Street, Ste 202 Bellingham, WA 98225 (360) 733-3773

March 7, 2014

IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

Sharon Drown (Drown)is the respondent to this Petition for Review; Drown was the Petitioner in the trial court and the Appellant/Cross-Respondent on appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Whether the Court of Appeals' ruling in *Estate of Langeland*, Appeal No. 67255-0-1, is consistent with Supreme Court precedent regarding property acquired by Randall J. Langeland (Langeland) and Drown during their committed intimate relationship. [Yes]
- 2. Whether the ruling of the Court of Appeals conflicts with the Division 2 Court of Appeals decision of *Estates of Palmer*, 145 Wn.App. 249, 187 P.3d 758 (Div. 2, 2008). [No]

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves competing claims to the Estate of Randall J. Langeland, asserted by his daughter Janell Boone (Boone), and woman with whom he lived and shared a committed intimate relationship with from 1991 until his death in 2009. Boone has stipulated that Drown and Langeland lived in a committed intimate relationship. CP 275.

In 1983, Drown was 20 years old, single and living in California when she met and fell in love with Langeland. CP 297. At that time, Langeland was 33 years old. In 1991, she accepted a ring from Langeland, moved in with him and they began a lasting intimate committed relationship. There were no children born of the relationship. CP 298. Langeland had one child, Boone, from a prior marriage.

In 1994, Drown and Langeland started a business known as J. Randall and Associates, Inc. (J. Randall). At that time, both of them worked at NT Enloe Hospital in Chico, California. RP 69. In 1998, they purchased a 36 foot sailboat in Washington. RP 79. Title to the sailboat was taken in the name of Langeland. Ex. 6. In 1999, they moved to Bellingham, Washington. RP 68.

In December of 1999, they purchased a home in Bellingham, Washington. CP 298. Title to the home was taken in the name of both Drown and Langeland. CP 302. After moving to Bellingham, Langeland worked only for J. Randall. Drown worked for PeaceHealth dba St. Joseph Hospital. CP 500.

¹ "You and each of you will please take note that for the purposes of the proceedings herein, Janell Boone hereby stipulates that decedent and Sharon Drown were in an intimate committed relationship." CP 275.

In 1999, Langeland broke his leg and for the next 10 years suffered a number of difficult injuries and illnesses, which eluded diagnoses and treatment. CP 297-98. During those 10 years, Drown nurtured and cared for Langeland as his primary caregiver. CP 299. Drown traveled with him and assisted him with his business affairs; she cared for his personal hygiene needs and administered his medications; and she attended all his medical appointments and was very involved with his treatment. *Id.* On January 9, 2009, Langeland died after a long, complicated and painful series of illnesses. CP 338. Langeland did not have a will. CP 49.

On January 23, 2009, Langeland's adult daughter, Boone, filed a probate which is the origin of all issues in this appeal. CP 339. In her initial pleadings, Boone alleged that Langeland died intestate and that Drown was an heir, legatee and devisee. CP 340. Boone also petitioned the trial court as follows: "During their ICR (intimate committed relationship) decedent and Drown jointly acquired property that needs to be equitably divided." CP 247.

The trial court, relying on its presumption of correctness of inventory, required Drown to prove her ownership interest. *Estate*

of Langeland, No. 67255-0-1, at p. 2. The trial court determined that Drown had no interest in the 36 foot sailboat, no interest in J. Randall, a 24.7% interest in the home and entered judgment in favor of the estate and against Drown for \$70,000 for Boone's attorneys' fees and costs. CP 50-51. The trial court also ordered the two vehicles acquired by Drown and Langeland during the committed intimate relationship, titled in both names sold and the proceeds to be divided between Drown and Boone. CP 50.

The Court of Appeals found that the trial court "failed to apply the correct presumption to property acquired during Mr. Langeland and Ms. Drown's committed intimate relationship," and "reversed and remanded to the trial court to reconsider the proper distribution of the jointly acquired assets and the issue of attorney's fees." *Estate of Langeland*, at p. 17-18.

111

REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court **only**:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.²
- 1. Boone's Petition for Review should be denied because the ruling is consistent with the decisions of the Washington Supreme Court in *Humphries v. Riveland* and *Hynes v. Hynes*.

The Court of Appeals' holding in this casedoes not prohibit unmarried persons in a committed intimate relationship from entering into agreements. Rather, the Court of Appeals' opinion determined the presumption that property acquired during a committed intimate relationship is jointly owned should prevail over the trial court's presumption of correctness of inventory. *Estate of Langeland*, at p. 9. The opinion did not hold, or even discuss, the contractual rights of unmarried persons within a committed

² RAP 13.4(b).

intimate relationship. *See Id.* Boone's basis for her petition is unfounded. This Court should not grant Boone's Petition for Review.

Boone cites *Humphries v. Riveland*, arguing that such separate property agreements were favored. 67 Wn.2d 376, 407 P.2d 967 (1965). What Boone fails to point out is that the court in *Humphries* puts the burden of proving such an agreement on the party asserting such an agreement exists.

In order to establish a contract such as here alleged to have been made, it is necessary that the person asserting it show by evidence that is conclusive, definite, certain and beyond legitimate controversy (1) that a contract as alleged was entered into between the deceased and the person asserting the contract; (2) that the services contemplated as consideration for such agreement have been actually performed; and (3) that such services were performed in reliance upon the agreement.

Id. at 380. Consistent with *Humphries*, the Court of Appeals determined that the trial court put the burden on Drown instead of Boone, who asserted such an agreement, and reversed and remanded to correct such error.

Boone next asserts that the Court of Appeals decision is inconsistent in some way to *Hynes v. Hynes*, 28 Wn.2d 660, 184

P.2d 68 (1947). *Hynes* did not analyze the property agreement in the context of a committed intimate relationship (then meretricious relationship), but instead involved a basic application of "[t]he rule of law in this state is that property acquired by a man and a woman not married but living together is not community property, but belongs to the one in whose name the title stands. . . ." *Id.* at 670. In that case, the property was in both the plaintiff and defendant's name, giving each party a one-half interest in the property. *Id.* at 672.

Finally, Boone cites *Bay v. Estate of Bay*, 125 Wn.App. 468, 105 P.3d 434 (Div. 1, 2005), to support her unfounded claim that the Court of Appeals opinion restricts the contractual rights of an unmarried couple in a committed intimate relationship. Boone's arguments are again not applicable to the facts of this case.

In *Bay*, the decedent's will omitted his second (and then present) wife from his will, and left his two children as sole beneficiaries. *Id.* at 471. The court applied the "omitted spouse" statute and determined that there was sufficient evidence to rebut the presumption that the omitted spouse would receive the same

amount of separate property as if the decedent had died intestate.

Id. at 474.

Drown and Langeland were in a committed intimate relationship, meaning the property acquired during the relationship is presumed to be joint property. *Bay* deals with the distribution of separate assets as an omitted spouse. *Id.* at 475. The presumption created by the omitted spouse statute is not applicable in this case as it deals with community property. *Estate of Langeland*, at 9.

2. Drown did not commit fraud when she was named beneficiary of Mr. Langeland's Fidelity IRA, consistent with *Estates of Palmer*.

The trial court properly determined that no fraud was committed regarding the Fidelity IRA. The trial court had the benefit of hearing Boone's handwriting expert David Sterling's testimony firsthand, including his inconsistencies. The trial court properly made its determination regarding the credibility of the expert testimony and gave it no weight. The weight and credibility of expert testimony regarding handwriting is reserved for the trier of fact. *In re Zimmerli's Estate*, 162 Wash. 243, 248, 298 P. 326 (1931).

Boone improperly asserts that the trial court and the Court of Appeals decisions are inconsistent with *Estates of Palmer*, 145 Wn.App. 249, 187 P.3d 758 (Div. 2, 2008). However, the facts of *Palmer* are not analogous to this case. In *Palmer*, the daughter of the decedent, while exercising her power of attorney transferred funds from her mother's account to a joint account in which the daughter had rights of survivorship. *Id.* at 254-55. The issues regarding the transfer of the funds were tied to the daughter's fiduciary duties as attorney-in-fact. *Id.* at 262-63.

In this case, the Fidelity IRA account beneficiary designation was determined by the trial court to be valid. The Court of Appeals ruled substantial evidence supported the trial court's ruling on this issue. *Palmer* does not apply to this case and therefore is not inconsistent with this case.

REQUEST FOR ATTORNEY FEES AND EXPENSES

Drown respectfully requests this Court award reasonable attorney fees and expenses for the preparation and filing of this answer to Boone's Petition for Review pursuant to RCW 4.84.080 and RAP 18.1.

CONCLUSION

Drown respectfully request that Boone's Petition for Review be denied.